STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

RECEIVED

Sep 18 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable Courtney Clyburn-Pope, Circuit Court Judge

RAPHAEL L. PONTOO,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001217

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failure to request the trial court include the element “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” in its charge for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death where there was mitigating evidence presented to the jury and where this Court, on direct appeal, found the issue was not preserved for appellate review?

STATEMENT

In May 2014, a Lexington County grand jury indicted petitioner for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death and armed robbery with a deadly weapon. App. 637-641. Petitioner's case was called to trial on January 26, 2015, before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. David Mauldin represented petitioner and assistant solicitors Robby McNair and Shawn Graham represented the state. App. 1. Judge Russo sentenced petitioner to consecutive terms of ten years imprisonment on the charge of armed robbery and twenty years imprisonment on the charge of failure to stop for a blue light involving death. App. 471.

Subsequently, appellate counsel, Donald McCune, filed a brief with this Court arguing the trial court "err[ed] when it required the appellant to prove his duress defense by a preponderance of the evidence, as contemplated by *Dixon v. United States*, 548 U.S. 1 (2006), despite the fact that the duress defense negates one of the statutory elements of the crime."¹ Supp. App. 6; 13-17.

Following briefing and oral argument, this Court affirmed petitioner's convictions and sentences finding "the circuit court correctly instructed the jury on the affirmative defense of duress, and the instructions were consistent with the relevant and applicable South Carolina law. Supp. App. 80. Additionally, this Court found petitioner's argument, that the court failed include the element "in the absence of mitigating circumstances" in its charge for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death where there was mitigating evidence presented to the jury was not preserved for appellate review "because [petitioner] did not raise the argument to the circuit court." Supp. App. 80.

¹ Appellate counsel also argued that (1) the trial court erroneously allowed the state to impeach petitioner with his post *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), silence, and (2) the in-court identification of petitioner was unduly suggestive. Supp. App. 6; 17-24.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 11, 2018. App. 474. The state filed a return, partial motion to dismiss and motion for more definite statement on March 22, 2019. App. 480-492. Petitioner filed an amended application for post-conviction relief on June 7, 2021. App. 493-495. An order of continuance and order denying the substitution of counsel signed by the Honorable Judge Brooks P. Goldsmith IV and dated July 13, 2019, was issued. App. 496-500. Petitioner filed a second amended application for post-conviction relief on June 16, 2021. App. 501-503.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope on July 2, 2021, via Webex Videoconference. Ola Johnson represented petitioner. Lillian L. Meadows, assistant attorney general, represented the state. App. 504.

On September 22, 2021, Judge Pope signed an order denying PCR. App. 582-636. The PCR court held petitioner failed to establish any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require the court to grant his application for post-conviction relief and denied relief on all allegations and dismissed his PCR action with prejudice. App. 634-635. Specifically, the PCR court found trial counsel was not ineffective for failure to request the court include the element “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” in its charge on failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death. App. 626. The court reasoned, that even if the mitigating language constituted an element of the alleged offense the language was immaterial in the context of a duress defense. App. 628.

The petition for writ of certiorari was filed April 11, 2022. The state filed its return on September 2, 2022. On August 18, 2023, this Court granted certiorari and ordered briefing.

The brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. *Id.* (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. *Id.*

“In reviewing jury charges for error, this Court must consider the [trial] court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). “If, as a whole, the charges are reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” *Id.* “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” *Id.* “To warrant reversal, a [trial] court’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failure to request the trial court include the element “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” in its charge for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death where there was mitigating evidence presented to the jury and where, on direct appeal, this Court found the issue was not preserved for appellate review.

Trial testimony

At trial the state alleged that on January 24, 2014, at bar in West Columbia petitioner held Jonathan Ruple at gunpoint, stole a gun from Ruple, and rode away in a vehicle with four other men.² App. 71, ll. 3-7; 82, l. 12-83, l. 6; 253, l. 17-254, l. 9; 262, l. 21-264, l. 6; 269, ll. 4-11. Ruple called 911 and reported the tag number of the vehicle. App. 83, ll. 6-15; 86, l. 17-87, l. 20. A state trooper stopped the vehicle petitioner was in and began ordering the individuals out one by one until only petitioner and Alexander Clemmons were left in the car. App. 127-134. Petitioner drove away from the stop and eventually ran the car into a ditch. App. 134, ll. 16-22; 136, l. 19-138, l. 15; 139, ll. 2-19. Clemmons died as a result of the accident. App. 231, l. 25-232, l. 2; 234, ll. 16-20.

Trooper Brandon Lee testified he was on patrol the day of the incident and he responded to a “be on the lookout” [BOLO] for a vehicle in reference to an armed robbery. App. 125, ll. 19-20; 126, ll. 3-14. Lee stopped the vehicle and with his weapon drawn asked the driver to get out of the car. App. 131, l. 15-132, l. 22. Then Lee began methodically ordering the other occupants out of the car. App. 132, l. 23-134, l. 13. After three men came out of the car the

² Ruple was unable to identify petitioner as the robber on either of two photo line-ups he was shown and in fact identified another person. App. 83, l. 21-86, l. 6; 94-95; However, Ruple was still permitted, over objection, to make an in-court identification of petitioner as the robber at trial. App. 86, ll. 17-24.

vehicle drove away from the stop. App. 134, ll. 15-22. Lee testified that he and another officer pursued the fleeing car and later found the car had wrecked. App. 135, ll. 1-22.

Petitioner testified at trial that he was at a bar in West Columbia playing pool with his friends. App. 365, ll. 1-15; 368, ll. 12-21. Petitioner denied he was the person that robbed Ruple. App. 414, ll. 7-13. He testified two of the men with him, Alexander Clemmons and Patrick Johnson, had the bag containing the gun stolen from Ruple.³ App. 369, l. 23-370, l. 18.

Petitioner testified they were stopped by a state trooper and three of his friends got out of the car, but Clemmons demanded petitioner drive away from the stop. Clemmons stated, "it was his birthday and that he wasn't going to jail," and he grabbed a gun, put it to petitioner's head, and demanded he drive. App. 371, l. 16-372, l. 3. Petitioner, afraid for his life, drove away from the traffic stop. Petitioner said Clemmons yanked the wheel and that is the last thing he remembered. App. 372, l. 5-373, l. 8.

Defense counsel said the following during closing statements:

[Petitioner] felt like he had no other choice at the time. Mr. Clemmons pulled out the gun. He didn't know if he was going to be harmed. He knew from prior experience that Mr. Clemmons could be violent. . . . [Petitioner] felt like he had no other choice. And the state has offered nothing to disprove this.

During the charge conference defense counsel agreed that the charge on the affirmative defense of duress was correct but contended that it was still objectionable under the Sixth Amendment because it shifted the burden to petitioner. App. 428, l. 16-429, l. 14.

During jury instructions the trial court charged the jury on failure to stop for a blue light as follows.

In order to prove this crime, the state must prove beyond a

³ Clemmons is referred to by his middle name, "Kewon," throughout the trial. App. 55, l. 15; 114, ll. 20-23; 328, ll. 1-8; 364, ll. 13-18.

reasonable doubt that the defendant was driving the motor vehicle on a road, street or highway of this state; that the defendant was signaled to stop by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren and/or flashing light, and that the defendant did not stop. An official signal requiring a motorist to stop may be a siren or flashing lights, but both are not required. An attempt to increase speed of a vehicle or in some other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light may be considered as evidence of failure to stop for a blue light. However, it is merely an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in this case and is to be given whatever weight that you think it should receive. If you find that the state has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant failed to stop for a blue light and his actions resulted in the death of another, that would satisfy the elements of the offense of failing to stop for a blue light resulting in death.

App. 452-53. Defense counsel made no further objection to the jury instructions. App. 458, l. 5.

PCR testimony

Defense counsel admitted that he should have objected to the trial court's jury instruction on failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death because it did not include, "in the absence of mitigating circumstances." App. 541, ll. 22-23. Counsel explained that he asked for the affirmative defense of duress to be charged but failed to object to the jury charges as given by the court. App. 541, l. 15-542, l. 4.

Discussion

The PCR court erred finding petitioner failed to show counsel was deficient for failure to request the trial court include the "mitigating circumstances" language in the charge on failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death and in finding no prejudice resulted as a matter of law because the jury was properly instructed on the affirmative defense of duress as related to the charged offense of failure to stop for blue lights.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, petitioner must show: (1) that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) that, but for

counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992).

The PCR court erred finding that trial counsel was not deficient for failure to object to the court's instruction. The judge failed to charge the current and correct law when he failed to properly charge all the elements of the crime for which petitioner was charged and counsel was deficient for failure to object. Counsel's earlier objection to the court's instruction that "the defendant must prove the affirmative defense of duress by preponderance or greater weight of the evidence," did not lessen the impact or cure counsel's failure to object to an incorrect instruction of the charged offense. Counsel admitted he should have objected to the court's erroneous instruction. While there was no strategic reason given for counsel's failure to object, counsel contended, at the evidentiary hearing, that the affirmative defense of duress constituted the mitigative circumstances. There was mitigating evidence presented through petitioner's testimony that he was held at gunpoint and instructed to drive by Clemmons.

In criminal cases the burden of proof is on the state to prove every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Attardo*, 263 S.C. 546, 550, 211 S.E.2d 868, 870 (1975).

The failure to stop vehicle when signaled by law enforcement statute provides:

In the absence of mitigating circumstances, it is unlawful for a motor vehicle driver, while driving on a road, street, or highway of the State, to fail to stop when signaled by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light. An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light is prima facie evidence of a violation of this section. Failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren does not excuse a failure to stop when the distance between the vehicles and other road conditions are such that it would be reasonable for a driver to hear or see the signals from the law enforcement vehicle.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750(A) (emphasis added).

Generally, the burden is on the defendant to prove an affirmative defense by preponderance of the evidence. *See Dixon v. United States*, 548, U.S. 1, 8 (2006) ([A]t common law, the burden of proving affirmative defenses—indeed all circumstances of justification, excuse or alleviation, rested on the defendant.”). Our Supreme Court adopted the rationale of *Dixon* in *State v. New*, 371 S.C. 523, 640 S.E.2d 871 (2007).

However, if the affirmative defense negates an element of the crime, the burden rests with the state to disprove the existence of the affirmative defense. This is because “it would be an extreme inconsistency to consider an element of the crime as an affirmative defense, for where the crime is not proven there is no need for defenses.” *Attardo* at 551-52, 211 S.E.2d 870. Therefore, whereas here, if an element of the crime is implicated by the affirmative defense it is the state’s burden to disprove the existence of the affirmative defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The PCR erred in finding the element “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” was “immaterial in the context of a duress defense.” The order cites *New*, in support of this proposition. The PCR court further found “[d]uress excuses the crime but does not negate any element of the offense.” *Id.* at 526, 640 S.E.2d at 873. Here, unlike in *New*, duress negates the very first element of the offense and therefore the burden rests with the state to disprove the existence of affirmative defense. The trial court’s instruction to the jury omitted “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” element and defense counsel failed to object to the omission of an element of the charged offense.

The PCR court erred finding petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to object to the court’s instruction. On direct appeal, the Court of Appeals found petitioner’s argument, that the trial court failed to charge the “current and correct law for the offense of

Failure to Stop for a Blue Light—specifically, that an element, ‘in the absence of mitigating circumstances,’ was omitted from the jury instruction—[was] not preserved” for appellate review because it was not raised to the lower court. Supp. App. 80.

However, petitioner does not argue “that he is entitled to relief merely because this particular issue was not preserved for appellate review.” App. 628. Rather, it is because, as argued in the final brief of appellant, there is an exception to the requirement for the defendant to prove affirmative defenses and the failure to properly instruct the jury on the offense erroneously shifted the burden of proof on to defendant.

In general, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina, *Cohens v. Atkins*, 333 S.C. 345, 509 S.E.2d 286 (Ct. App. 1998), and the law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence at trial. *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). To warrant reversal, a trial court’s charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003). Counsel’s failure to object to the absence of that language where there was mitigating evidence presented—that petitioner was forced at gunpoint to drive away from a traffic stop— was both erroneous and prejudicial and “so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, petitioner respectfully requests this Court reverse the lower court's denial of post-conviction relief and remand his case for a new trial.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER