RECEIVED

Mar 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001217

RAPHAEL LAMARR PONTOO,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief judge correctly determined Pontoo’s defense counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to ask the trial judge to include the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language in the jury charge on failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death because: (1) that particular statutory language was not an element of the offense; and (2) the trial judge’s instructions as a whole properly and sufficiently conveyed to the jury the law—including the law on the affirmative defense of duress—that was applicable to the case based on the evidence presented such that Pontoo could not have suffered any resulting prejudice under the circumstances involved.

On appeal, Pontoo contends the PCR judge reversibly erred by failing to find defense counsel’s performance was constitutionally ineffective. In raising such a contention, Pontoo maintains defense counsel performed in a deficient manner during trial by failing to ask the trial judge to instruct the jury on the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language from the failure to stop for a blue light statute because: (1) that particular language purportedly constituted “the very first element” of the offense; and (2) in light of that, the State was supposedly required to disprove the affirmative defense of duress since that defense would negate the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” element. Pontoo further maintains he was prejudiced by defense counsel’s deficient performance because the trial judge’s jury instructions as presented somehow so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process his trial could not be relied on as having produced a just result. Contrary to Pontoo’s current contentions, the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language was *not* an element of the offense of failure to stop for a blue light in South Carolina and, instead, was a statutory exception that Pontoo bore the burden of establishing. And, the trial judge’s jury instructions correctly conveyed just that, were substantially correct, and—when considered as a whole—adequately covered all the law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. Under such circumstances, defense counsel could not have been deficient for failing to either object to the jury instructions as presented or request any additional instructions, and there was not and could not have been a

reasonable likelihood of a different outcome at trial but for defense counsel's performance.

Accordingly, the PCR judge correctly declined to grant relief. The PCR judge's ruling should be affirmed.

Law Applicable to Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel Claims

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, the defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of trial counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n. 14 (1970). However, that does not mean entitlement to perfect or mistake-free representation. Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-688 (1984). Meanwhile, trial counsel's assistance is considered constitutionally ineffective only when it "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. at 686.

When faced with a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a reviewing court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). Pursuant to that two-pronged analysis, an applicant must establish: (1) trial counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for trial counsel's deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005). Thus, the applicant has the heavy burden of establishing both deficiency and prejudice in order to be entitled to relief. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001).

Regarding the deficiency prong of the analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether trial counsel provided representation within the objectively reasonable range of

competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). To establish deficiency, the applicant must demonstrate trial counsel “made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Thus, trial counsel’s performance will be considered deficient only when it objectively amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms and not when it simply “deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011).

Beyond satisfying the burden required by the deficiency prong, an applicant also bears the burden of establishing prejudice in order to be entitled to relief as “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. For that burden to be met, trial counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant to such an extent there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different but for trial counsel’s unprofessional errors. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Moreover, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 112; see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”).

Law Applicable to Jury Instructions

The purpose of a trial judge’s jury instructions is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). When instructing a jury on the law, a trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003). In doing so, a trial judge must instruct the jury on the substance of the law but does not have to use any

particular verbiage. State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). Significantly, a trial judge’s jury charge is appropriate if it is substantially correct and adequately covers the law applicable to the case based on *the evidence presented*, which itself is determinative of what law should and must be presented. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge is required to instruct the jury on sound principles of law that are applicable to the case based on the evidence presented); State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009) (“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted); see also State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”).

Law Applicable to Affirmative Defenses, Statutory Exceptions, and Provisos

Unquestionably, in a criminal case, the prosecution is constitutionally required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt “every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which [the defendant] is charged” in order to convict a defendant of a criminal offense. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 538, 364 (1970); see Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979) (“[N]o person shall be made to suffer to onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof—defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.”). Importantly though, “[p]roof the nonexistence of all affirmative defenses has never been constitutionally required” in order for the prosecution to satisfy its burden of proof. Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 210 (1977). In light of that, the prosecution must only bear the burden to disprove an affirmative defense when it negates an element of the crime; conversely, the prosecution has no constitutional duty to disprove such a

defense when it merely *excuses* conduct that would otherwise be punishable. Smith v. United States, 568 U.S. 106, 110 (2013).

Relatedly, “when the State has made out a prima facie case under a statute and the defendant claims to fall within an ‘exception’ or ‘proviso’ in the statute[.]” the well-established general rule in South Carolina and elsewhere is “the burden is on the defendant to establish such a defense.” State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 552, 211 S.E.2d 868, 871 (1975); see State v. Clarke, 302 S.C. 423, 425, 396 S.E.2d 827, 827 (1990) (“The general rule, when dealing with statutory crimes to which there are exceptions, is that the defendant has the burden of excusing or justifying his act; and hence the burden may be on him to bring himself within an exception in the statute or to prove the issuance of a license or permit.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); see also McKelvey v. United States, 260 U.S. 353, 357 (1922) (“By repeated decisions it has come to be a settled rule in this jurisdiction that an indictment or other pleading founded on a general provision defining the elements of an offense, or of a right conferred, need not negative the matter of an exception made by a proviso or other distinct clause, whether in the same section or elsewhere, and that it is incumbent on one who relies on such an exception to set it up and establish it.”). And, importantly, that general rule is only inapplicable “if the language of the exception must be regarded as descriptive of the offense.” Clarke, 302 S.C. at 425, 396 S.E.2d at 827.

For well over a century, a statutory exception has ordinarily been considered to be descriptive of the offense when it is so incorporated with the language defining the offense “that the ingredients of the offen[s]e *cannot* be accurately and clearly described if the exception is omitted[.]” United States v. Cook, 84 U.S. 168, 173 (1872) (emphasis added). Meanwhile, when the “ingredients” of the offense “may be accurately and clearly defined without any

reference to the exception,” an exception typically has not been considered to be descriptive of the offense, and the general rule placing the burden on the defendant to prove that exception would be applicable. Id. at 173-174; see State v. Bouknight, 55 S.C. 353, ___, 33 S.E. 451, 453 (1899) (“If . . . the language of the exception, found in any part of the statute, must be regarded as descriptive of the offense created by such statute, then such exception must be negatived; but, if it cannot properly be so regarded, then it becomes a matter of defense, and need not be negatived.”).

Application of the Relevant Law to Pontoo’s Case

In the case sub judice, Pontoo—in addition to being convicted of armed robbery—was convicted of failure to stop for a blue light resulting in a death, an aggravated form of the general offense of failure to stop for a blue light. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750. Pursuant to South Carolina law, failure to stop for a blue light in general is statutorily defined as follows:

In the absence of mitigating circumstances, it is unlawful for a motor vehicle driver, while driving on a road, street, or highway of the State, to fail to stop when signaled by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light. An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light is *prima facie evidence* of a violation of this section. Failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren does not excuse a failure to stop when the distance between the vehicles and other road conditions are such that it would be reasonable for a driver to hear or see the signals from the law enforcement vehicle.

Id. (emphasis added).

Based on the plain language of that statutory provision, all that is needed to establish a *prima facie* violation of the offense is proof: (1) a driver on a South Carolina roadway was signaled to stop by a law enforcement vehicle’s flashing light or siren; and (2) instead of stopping, the driver attempted to avoid the law enforcement vehicle in any manner, including by

increasing speed. *Id.*; see Black's Law Dictionary 638-639 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “prima facie evidence” as “[e]vidence that will establish a fact or sustain a judgment unless contradictory evidence is produced”). Meanwhile, the statute’s “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language establishes an *exception* to the broader conduct prohibited by the statute’s other language. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750. And, in setting out that exception, the legislature elected to expressly limit it by indicating failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren does not “excuse” the offense when it would have been reasonable under the circumstances for the driver to have heard or saw the law enforcement vehicle’s signals. *Id.*

Viewing the broad language of the portion of the statute defining what conduct is prohibited in conjunction with the portion containing the narrow language carving out a limited exception to that prohibited conduct, the offense of failure to stop for a blue light “may be accurately and clearly defined without any reference to the exception[.]” Cook, 84 U.S. at 173-174. Indeed, the statute itself says as much through the portion identifying all that is necessary to establish a prima facie violation of the offense while making no reference whatsoever to the exception.³ See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750 (“An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light is prima facie evidence of a violation of this section.”).

³ Moreover, in a previous version of the offense, our legislation defined the offense *without* including any exceptions, which unmistakably demonstrates the offense was and is capable of accurate and clear description with or without the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language. See Act No. 1042, 1968 S.C. Acts 2497 (enacting a penal statute that mandated: “It shall be unlawful for any motor vehicle driver, while driving on any road, street or highway of the State, to fail to stop when signaled by any law enforcement vehicle by a means of a siren or flashing light. Any attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in other manner avoid the pursuing law enforcement vehicle when signaled by a siren or flashing light shall constitute prima facie evidence of a violation of this section. Failure to see the flashing light or hear the siren shall not excuse a failure to stop when the distance between the vehicles and other road conditions are such that it would be reasonable for a driver to hear or see the signals from the law enforcement vehicle.”).

And, further demonstrating the legislature did not intend—and could not have intended—to require the State to disprove the existence of any and all undefined mitigating circumstances in order to be able to obtain a conviction for failure to stop for a blue light, such a requirement would be virtually impossible to satisfy in light of the fact it would require the State to prove a negative, which ordinarily cannot be done. See Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 265, 565 S.E.2d at 305 (Pleicones, J., concurring in resulting) (recognizing the imposition of a requirement upon the State to disprove a defense “imposes an impossible burden on the State” by, in essence, forcing the State to prove a negative); see also State v. Lee, 375 S.C. 394, 402, 653 S.E.2d 259, 263 (2007) (Toal, C.J., dissenting) (“No Court may justifiably ask a litigant to prove a negative[.]”); cf. Piedmont & Arlington Life Ins. Co. v. Ewing, 92 U.S. 377, 378 (1875) (“While it may be easy enough to prove the affirmative of one of these questions, it is next to impossible to prove the negative.”). In essence, such a requirement would force the State to prove the absence of any conceivable circumstance that could potentially be construed as mitigating, which would be impossible to do without knowledge that typically could only be possessed by the driver accused of the crime and would lead to absurd results not permitted by our rules of statutory construction.⁴ See Wade v. State, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2002) (“[A] court must reject a statute’s interpretation leading to absurd results not intended by the Legislature.”); State v. Johnson, 396 S.C. 182, 189, 720 S.E.2d 516, 520 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[C]ourts will reject a statutory interpretation that would lead to an absurd result not intended by the legislature or that would defeat plain legislative intention.”); see also Morrison v. California, 291 U.S. 82, 88 (1934) (“The decisions are manifold that within limits of reason and fairness the burden of proof

⁴ Notably, defense counsel aptly argued to the jury during his closing argument “[t]he only evidence about what happened in that car from the time it left to the time it crashed is what Mr. Pontoo said on the stand and that’s all you have to go on.” (App’x p. 435).

may be lifted from the state in criminal prosecutions and cast on a defendant. The limits are in substance these, that the state shall have proved enough to make it just for the defendant to be required to repel what has been proved with excuse or explanation, or at least that upon a balancing of convenience or of *the opportunities for knowledge* the shifting of the burden will be found to be an aid to the accuser without subjecting the accused to hardship or oppression.” (emphasis added)); cf. Spann v. Phoenix Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn., 83 S.C. 262, ___, 65 S.E. 232, 233 (1909) (“To hold that the insurer must prove that there was no waiver would impose the impossible task of proving not one fact, but an indefinite number of negatives. It is not conceivable how the insurance company would set about putting in array all the forms which waiver might assume, and proving that it did not do any one of the indefinite number of things which might tend to show waiver.”).

Therefore, applying the pertinent over-century-old test to South Carolina’s failure to stop for a blue light statute, the “in the absence of mitigating circumstances” language constitutes an exception instead of an element. See Clarke, 302 S.C. at 425, 396 S.E.2d at 828 (instructing “statutory exceptions are matters of defense for which a defendant bears the burden of production” when the exceptions are not descriptive of the offense); cf. Attardo, 263 S.C. at 553, 211 S.E.2d at 871 (“If the defendant had alleged that he was legally entitled to the drugs under a valid medical prescription, he would have the burden of proving the existence of the prescription.” (footnote omitted)); State v. Twiggs, 123 S.C. 47, ___, 101 S.E. 663, 663-664 (1919) (“[The penal statute making it unlawful to—amongst other things—keep or possess alcoholic liquors] then provides the manner in which one quart a month may be procured and kept. The rule in such cases is that a defendant must bring himself within the exception. For instance, where the statute prohibits sale without a license, and defendant is charged with selling

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